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Population Changes: “Late Loyalists” and
the Great Migration

The Constitutional Act of 1791 had created the two separate colo-
nies of Upper and Lower Canada. It preserved and protected their
two very different cultural traditions in order to ensure their loyalty
to Britain. However, in the early nineteenth century, immigration
would greatly change the character of both colonies in ways that
could not have been foreseen in 1791.

The first phase of such immigration was the arrival from the
United States of the “late Loyalists” during the period between 1791
and 1812. Some of these immigrants were true Loyalists who had
waited to see if they would receive compensation for their losses
during the American Revolution. Others were opportunists, drawn
north by the promise of cheap land in good locations. The late
Lovyalists increased UpperCanada’s population from 14 000 in 1791

to 90 000 by 1812. Another 10 000 late Lovalists settled in the
Eastern Townships of Lower Canada.

A second wave of immigration, roughly the years 1815- 1850,
came mostly from the British Isles. Thousands of Irish, Scots and
English found themselves displaced by changes resultmg from the
Industrial Revolution and so set out for the new world. Often called
the Great Migration, this great wave of new arrivals to British
North America would blur, but not wipe cut, the Canadien and
Lovyalist origins of modern Canada

THE GREAT MIGRATION

Mos’t immlgrants who came 1o Canada during
the Great Migration were very poor but they
could get cheap transportation to Canada.
Passage to Montreal or Quebec by sailing ship
in the 1820s was 7 pounds, about two months
wages for a farm laborer, meals included. Chil-
- dren travelled for half fare These immigrants
- faced extreme hardships, both oh board ship
and in the colonies to which they travelled.
Sicknesses such as cholera were common en
board ship: tens of thousands died on their
way to North America. The survivors faced
. great problems as they tried to find work or
-+ clear land for pioneer farms.

© Thefollowing description of the p!igh’r ofan
imrigrant family, living in a cave in Upper Can-
ada, was Wwritten in 1821

The mother, who.continued to shed tears,

* told me, that she and hier family were lrish-
. immigrants. They had been induced by a

.7 series of misfortunes, to set sail for Canada;
.. with the intention of obtaining land, and
“ had, after many difficulties, got thus farin
-their voyage; but, being now destitute of .
money; they were unable to procure a lodg-. .
g, andrknew not where to apply for work,

that now remain to me. My little girl died in
the ship and they threw her into the sea. Aye,
sure, that was the worst of ail,” continued
she, in an agony of grief. “Poor babe! She
had neither prayers nor a wake!”

'hese two bnys “ said the woman, “are ail . . - of Upper Canada; publishéd in 1821.]

1ssistance, or information, “A husband and [Excerpted from John waiéon, Sketches =



Our Land: Building the West

The population of British North America doubled between 1815
and 1835. With the rapid growth of population came 2 period of
economic prosperity. Large areas of forest land, traditional hunting
grounds for Native peoples, were cleared and pioneer farms estab-
lished. Growing towns and villages, many of them founded only a
few years earlier, became centres of industrial and commercial
activity,

The newcomers, whether from the United States or the British
Isles, brought with them ways of life different from those of the
Canadiens or the original Loyalists. Some brought political ideas
that had been influenced by the recent revolutions in the United
States and France. Others brought with them the reform-minded
ideas of the British Whigs. These political views would soon play a
major role in the shaping of colonial government in the Canadas,

Some Scots and Irish settlers brought with them deep feelings of
animosity toward the English. They resented the treatment their
countrymen had experienced at the hands of English conquerors. In
particular, they resented the way in which the British landed gentry
had treated peasant farmers, whose lands they had taken over.
Religious matters also set these newcomers apart from the early
Loyalists. Many of the Irish and Scottish settlers who came to
Canada were Roman Catholics. Others were Methodists and Pres-
byterians, who resented the exclusive privileges extended to the
Anglican Church in Upper Canada. Their demands for change
would contribute to the new political movements in British North
America during the 1820s and 1830s,

1. Explain the terms “late Loyalists” and “Great Migration.”
2. Suggest several ways the new waves of immigrants caused
problems for the British leaders of the Canadas.



‘Government and Society in the Canadas
The Structure of Colonial Government

While the Constitutional Act of 1791 had given each of the colonies
an elected Legislative Assembly, the real power rested with the
governor and his councils. The legislators in the elected Assembly
had little control over the actions of the governor who was
appointed by the British Government. .

An explanation of the organization of parliamentary govern-
‘ments may be usefu] here. Basically, any parliamentary system of

government has three components: the legislative, the executive
and the judiciary, The legislative branch of government approves
laws, the executive branch sees that these laws are translated into
action, and the judiciary ensures that the laws are enforced.

"% In parliamentary governments, the executive branch drafts most
of the laws that come before the legislative branch for approval. The
legislators debate these draft laws and then approve them, reject
them or pass them in amended form. The executive may also make
laws without the approval of the elected legislators if no taxes are
involved. Such laws are known as “orders in council,”

Under the Constitutional Act of 1791, the executive in Upper and
Lower Canada comprised the governor and his Executive Council,
There was a governor general responsible for both Upper and Lower
Canada, who represented the British Crown. He resided in Quebec
City, capital of Lower Canada. A lieutenant-governer, resident in
York {Toronto), was appointed to represent the British Crown in
Upper Canada. He reported, in theory, to the governor general in
Quebec-who was also the lieutenant-governor for Lower Canada.
In reality, there were effectively two governors, one for each of the
Canadas.

The Constitutional Act called for an Executive Council in each of
the Canadas to assist the governor. Members of this council were
appointed by the governor for life. They advised and assisted him in
the management of public affairs. The Executive Council func-
tioned much like a federal or provincial cabinet does today. Each
member headed 2 government department, directed the activities of
that department and hired its employees. The fact that the Execu-
tive Council was appointed by the governor, not chosen by the
elected members of the Legislative Assembly, meant that there was
no responsible government in the Canadas. In other words, the
Executive Council was not answerable or “responsible” to the Legis-
lative Assembly. The power of the clected Legislative Assembly was
further limited by the Legislative Council. The Legislative Council
formed an upper chamber, similar to the British House of Lords, in
the colonial government. Any bill passed by the Assembly had to
receive the approval of the Legislative Council before becoming faw,
The members of this council were also appointed by the £OVErnor.
Most of the Executive Council would be members of this body also.
The governor also had to give his approval to any legislation passed
in the colony. Even then, the British government could overturn any
law within two years of its passage by the colonial legislators.

Within British parliamentary tradition, laws regarding taxation
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must be approved by the elected legislature. The imposition of taxes
on the American colonies by the British Parliament without the
appreval of the colonial legislatures had been one of the causes of
the American Revolution. i

The Constitutional Act gave each elected Assembly the power to
raise money for local purposes. However, the Constitutional Act
also called for one-seventh of all public lands in the Canadas to be
set aside to cover the expenses of government. Money from the sale
or rent of these Crown Reserves could be used by the governor and
his council to pay government expenses, without approval of the
Assembly.

CLIEEIN UPPER CANADA

A contemporary observer has left the following. -
description of pioneer le in Upper Canadain .
- The majority of its inhabitants were indeed
. very poor when they commenced their =
~labois, and had a variety of discouraging =
“circumstances to.contend with. . .the pecu- B
- liarities of the climate, the almost inaccessi- .
. ble situation of their farms, the badnessiof o
the roads, and the immense woods. . o

- Diminutive log houses, surrounded bya -~
few acres of cleared fand, presentedihem-. . 3
selves. . A profusion of decayed and half- -~ =

-~ bestow, is still iri many respects,

place of residence
‘independenc

“burnt timber lay around, and the serpentine - -

foots of trees, blown down by tempests,. -
stretched into the air, in the most fantastic .

forms. In different places, piles of burning - .-

timber sent forth columns of smoke; which
enveloped the forests far and wide. Axes
rung [sic] in every thicket, and the ear was
occasionally startled by the crashing of trees
falling to the ground. . .. e
Upper Canada, though destitute of those .

advantages which high agricultural improve-
ment and a dense population never fail to

- or'the murmurs of discontent

y.ih

cumstance teénds to.make | =
to Canada. They find themselvesto be of - FRS
much more importance there thanthey
would be at home; for the circle of societyis =

so limited, and the number of respectable -

people in the Province sosmall, ...

[Excerpted from John HdWi'son;.Skétffﬁés.' '

of Upper Canada, published in 1821.] *

Land was also set aside for the Anglican Church under the terms
of the Constitutional Act. These lands were known as the Clergy
Reserves. One-seventh of all public lands were to be set aside for the
maintenance of “a Protestant Clergy” in the colonies. Revenue from
these lands would be used to pay the costs of churches, schools and
other Anglican Church activities in the Canadas. These institutions
were intended to play an important part in keeping British tradi-
tions alive in Canada. '



Our Land: Building the West

Upper Canada: The Family Compact,
Reformers and Radicals

Social, political and economic power in Upper Canada during the
early 1800s lay in the hands of a small group of families which,
because of intermarriage among its members, came to be known as
the Family Compact. It controlled nearly every aspect of public life
in Upper Canada. Members of the Family Compact included
wealthy landowners, educators and Jeaders of the Anglican Church.
They were closely linked to the lieutenant-governor for Upper
Canada, both socially and politically. Nearly all of the Executive
Council for the province was drawn from the Family Compact. The
oligarchy used its power on the Executive Council to protect its
privileged position and to attack its critics. It could veto bills it did
not like and even expel its opponents from the Assembly. The
Family Compact argued that it was only natural that they should be
the leaders of their community. They saw themselves as the superior
members of Upper Canadian society, loyal to the Monarchy, pillars
of the church and the only ones educated enough to govern properly.

The attitudes of the Family Compact toward public education
and other democratic institutions is nicely summed up in the
following statement. It was made by a member of the oligarchy

during debate over a move to bring public school to Upper Canada:
“What do you need such schools for? There will always be enough
Englishmen to carry out public business. We can leave the Canadi-
ans to clean up the bush.” The Family Compact had no need for
public schools. Their children attended schools such as York’s
Upper Canada College, run by the Anglican Church. Critics of the
Family Compact called the college a "Prepare-a-Tory” school. The
Family Compact had a strong ally in the Anglican Church. One of
the leading members of the oligarchy was John Strachan, the first
Anglican Bishop of Toronto. He strongly supported the Tory cause,
and was an outspoken opponent of any reforms. Strachan resisted
any changes such as public schooling that might end the Anglican
Church's privileged place in the colony.

Through their power on the Executive Council, the Family Com-
pact controlled the sale of Crown lands, including the assignment of
the Crown and Clergy Reserves. They also had control over public
works projects such as the building of roads, bridges and canals. Its
use of this power led the Family Compact into direct conflict with
the pioneer farmers of Upper Canada.

Much of the best farmland in the colony was kept for the Crown
and Clergy Reserves or sold to members of the Family Compact.
They knew that increasing demand for farmland, created by immi-
gration to Upper Canada, would drive up the price of these lands.
Many of these lands lay idle, uncleared bush in the midst of strug-
gling pioneer farms. These farmers wanted to buy some of the
unused land to increase their capacity to produce food for the
growing population of Upper Canada. They were also concerned
about the transportation problem created by the idle lands. The
uncleared areas blocked road routes, raising the cost of transporting
crops to markets. The impact of the Family Compact’s control over
land grants and road building is shewn in the following statement
by Robert Gourlay, a spokesman for the grievances of the pioneer
farmers. 5



These blocks of wild land place the actual settler in an almost
hopeless condition; he can hardly expect during his lifetime, to
see his neighbourhood contain a population sufficiently dense to
support mills, schools, post-offices, places of worship, markets or
shops; and, without these, civilization retrogrades.

Roads under these circumstances can neither be opened by the
settlers, nor kept in proper repair, even if made by the Govern-
ment. The inconvenience arising from the want of roads is very

great. . I met a settler from the Township of Warwick. . .return-
ing from the grist mill at Westminster, with flour and bran of
thirteen bushels of wheat; he had a yoke of oxen and a horse
attached to his waggon, and had been absent nine days, and did
not expect to reach home until the following evening.. he
assured me that he had to unload wholly or in part several times,
and after driving his waggon through the swamps, to pick out a
road through the woods where the swamps and gulleys were
fordable, and to carry his bags on his back and replace them in the
waggon [to cover] a distance less than 90 miles [150 kilometres].

[Statement made by Robert Gourlay to Lord Durham following
the Rebellion of 1837 ]

Gourlay organized meetings of farmers to hear their concerns and
to help them present their grievances directly to the British govern-
ment. In response, the Family Compact used their power on the
Executive Council to have Gourlay arrested and expelled from the
colony. One of Gourlay’s most vehement attackers was Bishop
Strachan:

There has been here for a year past a Mr. Gourlay from Fifeshire
trying to set us by the ears. He has done a great deal of mischief in
the Colony by seditious publications exciting discontent among
the people. I saw through him at once and opposed him with my
usual vigour upon which the Press groaned with his abuse of me.
By this he destroyed much of his influence. A character like Mr.
Gourlay in a quiet Colony like this where there is little or no spirit
of inquiry and very little knowledge may do much harm.. by
exciting uneasiness irritation & exciting unreasonable hopes.

[Letter written by John Strachan, December 1, 1818 ]

On November 27, 1818, the Family Compact used their control
over the Assembly to have passed An Act to Prevent Certain Meet-
ings in the Province of Upper Canada. It made the kind of meeting
held by Gourlay and the farmers illegal.

Opposition to the Family Compact grew steadily in the 1820s. In
the election of 1824, the Tories lost their majority in the Assembly.
The victorious Reformers were led by Marshall Bidwell, the son of
an American immigrant. They set out to make govermment and
society in Upper Canada more democratic.

One of the Reformers’ first acts was to pass a bill allowing
- Methodist ministers to conduct weddings, a power previously

Robert Gourlay arrived in Upper
Canada in 1817, He immediately
began to gather information on
land policy and life in Upper
Canada for an immigrants guide.
Gourlay wanted to use the guide
to encourage immigrants to set-
tle on his land holdings. The
Family Compact opposed Gour-
lay’s activities and cancelled his
land grant. Gourlay’ criticism of
the Family Compact’s actions led
to two libel trials and, in 1819,
his banishment from Upper Can-
ada on charges of sedition.
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reserved for the Anglican Church. Strachan accused the Methodists
of wanting to create an American-style republic. Through the influ-
ence of the Family Compact on the Execative Council, the bill was
thrown out. Two years later, the Family Compact again used its
power to veto a bill approved by the Legislative Assembly calling for
the sale of the Clergy Reserves. The proceeds of the sale would have
been used to finance public education in the colony.

Religious freedom and public education were becoming impor-
tant issues in Upper Canada. By the early 1820s, Methodists and
other Protestant sects clearly outnumbered the Anglicans in the
colony, especially among the pioneer farming families. By support-
ing greater religious freedom, the Reformers gained the backing of
the Methodists in Upper Canada, particularly their leader Egerton
Ryerson. & : ‘

Ryerson wanted important changes made in the way Upper Can-
ada was run, changes that would benefit the farmers, small mer-
chants and workers of the colony. He fought for religious freedom
and an end to the privileged place of the Anglican Church in
colonial society. Above all, he was a passionate advocate of a free
public school system paid for out of government revenues. Like
most of the Reformers, Ryerson was loyal to the British Crown and
British parliamentary traditions. These men wanted only such
rights and freedoms as they felt they were entitled to as British
subjects. .

Some of the Reformers wanted greater changes than those
demanded by men like Bidwell and Ryerson. This group, known as
Radicals, had been influenced by republican ideas from France and
the United States. They wanted to see an end to British rule in
Canada. Led by men like William Lyon Mackenzie, these men
wanted to destroy the power of the Family Compact. They also
wanted to ensure that no oligarchy could ever again be established
in Canada. To achieve this end, Mackenzic called for the establish-
ment of a republican form of government, responsible only to the
people. _ _ '

Mackenzie was 2 newspaperman, a member of the Legislative
Assembly and the first mayor of Toronto. He used all of these roles
to attack the Family Compact and to argue for a new system of
government for Canada. His newspapet, the Colonial Advocate,
was a major weapon in his attacks on the oligarchy. One editorial
described the Family Compact in this way: '

[It is] the most extraordinary collection of sturdy beggars,
parsons, priests, pensioners, army people, navy people, place-



Lower Canada: The Chdteau Cligue and
The Patriotes '

The struggle for reform in Lower Canada, as in Upper Canada, was
rooted in conflicts between the elected Legislative Assembly and
the powerful oligarchy which controlled the Executive Council,
During the early 1830s, the political conflict in Lower Canada was
made more complex by the desire of the Canadien majority to
protect their culture. The Canadiens felt that their culture was
threatened both by the governing oligarchy and by the many Eng-
lish-speaking immigrants who were coming to the colony.

In Lower Canada the conflict was not between Conservativesand
Liberals as it was in Britain or Upper Canada. Here, the roots of
conflict lay in the history of Quebec and the conquest of that French
outpost by the British. As you have learned, both the Quebec Act
and the Constitutional Act of 1791 had protected the traditions and
culture of French Canada. These traditions found their political
expression in the elected Legislative Assembly, which was domi-
nated by the Cznadien majority in Lower Canada. The British
governor of the colony, however, drew the members of his Execu-
tive and Legislative Councils from the British merchant class.

This powerful oligarchy was known as the Chateau Cligue. The
group took its name from the Chateau St. Louis, the governor’s
mansion in Quebec City. Among its members was John Molson,
founder of the famous brewing company. The Chateau Clique

favored the building of canals to link the factories of Montreal and

Quebec to markets in Upper Canada. As well, they actively fought

against traditional land and civil laws in the colony. The Chateau

Cligue wanted the Canadien population to adopt a British way of

life. During the 1830s, the Chateau Clique blocked the efforts of

reformers to achieve responsible government in the form of an
~ elected Legislative Council.

The British merchant class was angered by what they saw as the

blocks that the Canadien-dominated Assembly placed in the way of
freer trade and commerce with Upper Canada. Transportation
between the Canadas was difficult in the early 1800s. The growing
market in Upper Canada was being served by American suppliers,
not the industries of Montreal and Quebec. The Executive Council
sought funds to build canals and roads to link the colonies. The
taxes to pay for these projects had to be approved by the Assembly.

The British in Lower Canada regarded the Canadiens as ignorant

and backward people. They could not understand why the Cana-
diens kept their old ways of farming, fur trading and doing busi-
ness. The Canadiens’ lack of interest in the new agricultural and
industrial methods that had resulted from the Industrial Revolution
was incomprehensible to the British merchants.

&9



For their part, the Canadiens regarded the British as arrogant
conquerors. They resented the power and privileges enjoyed by the
members of the Chateau Clique and other British merchants. They
feared that the best lands in the colony would go to English-speak-
ing immigrants. The Canadiens were angered by the low opinion
many of the British had of their traditional way of life. Above all,
they were concerned that this attitude would lead the British to seek
assimilation of the Canadiens into the newcomers’ way of life. The
French writer de Tocqueville, who visited Lower Canada in 1831,
noted that the Canadiens “regard with jealousy the daily arrival of
hewcomers from Europe. They feel that they will end up being
absorbed. . the English and French merge so little that the latter
keep the name Canadiens, the others continuing to call themselves
English.”

The gap between the two cultures widened as economic condi-
tions worsened in Lower Canada during the 1830s, especially for the
ordinary Canadiens. Many of the industrial jobs in the factories and
mills of Quebec and Montreal went to British immigrants. When an
economic depression began in 1833, unemployment rose in the
cities, affecting Canadiens and immigrants alike. In the country-
side, the harvest was poor.

Cornelius Krieghoff sensitively
recorded the Canadiens’ way of
life in his paintings. He lived and
travelled in Lower Canada
throughout the mid-1800s.



The Canadiens saw the immigrants as an economic as well as a
cultural threat. That threat was made more ominous by outbreaks
of cholera brought to Quebec by the immigrants. One cholera
outbreak in 1832 killed more than 3000 residents of Quebec City.
That same year, English soldiers killed three Canadiens during an
election rally. All of these problems served to increase anti-British
feelings in the colony. _

Such feelings were only part of the growing struggle for reformin
Lower Canada, however. Improved travel and communications had
brought the educated young men of the colony into contact with
new political ideas then finding expression in the United States and
France. Well-educated, trained as doctors, lawyers orscholars, these

young Canadiens were unable to play a significant role in govern-
ment because of the power of the English oligarchy. Their frustra-
tions were rooted both in the cultural division between French and
English in Lower Canada and in the undemocratic nature of the
colonial government.

The reform movement in Lower Canada combined Canadien
nationalism with republican ideas of democratic goverament.
These ideas found eloquent expression in a brilliant young lawvyer
and spellbinding orator, Louis Joseph Papineau. Under his leader-
ship, the Parti Canadien, which held four-fifths of the scats in the
Legislative Assembly, often clashed with the governor and his
Council. The Assembly steadfastly refused to approve taxes for
building canals and roads. Such taxes, they argued, would place
heavy burdens on small farmers while helping the wealthy British
merchants.

By 1832, the Reformers in Lower Canada had split into two
groups, a moderate wing led by John Neilson and a more radical
group led by Papineau. The radical wing took the name Patriotes,
reflecting the nationalist spirit of their cause. The Patriotes were
able to effectively control the Assembly. After the killings during
the 1832 election, they passed a motion of censure against the
governor, During the same session, the Patriotes approved a bill
calling for an elected Logislative Council in the colony. Such 2 move
would have paved the way for responsible government in Lower
Canada.

In 1834, the Assembly went even further in its demands for
responsible government. The Patriotes approved a list of ninety-
two resolutions outlining the Canadien grievances over the way the
colony was governed. They again demanded an elected Legislative
Council, and sought all of the powers and privileges enjoyed by
members of the British Parliament. With the ninety-two resofutions
as their platform, the Patriotes won an overwhelming victory in the
election of 1834. A resolution calling for responsible government
was again approved by the Assembly in 1836. '

In 1837, Britain’s colonial secretary, Lord Russell, responded to
these demands with ten resolutions of his own. While acknowledg-
ing the need for increased popular support for the government,
Russell firmly rejected any form of responsible government for the
colony. His response strengthened the reformers’ demands for
greater democracy, not only in Lower Canada but in Upper Canada
and Nova Scotia as well. It also served to dangerously widen the gap
between the British and Canadiens in Lower Canada.

1O

This portrayal of Louis Joseph
Papineau was painted by C. W,
fefferys long after the rebellions
of 1837. What is Jefferys trying
to say about Papineau! What
event do you think has just taken
place!



Our Land: Building the West

et -__from’pnnc:pie . ;
ity without a r endeavour to better
'._'the;r condition, .. i
The Hab:tans have aimost every resource . '

The reform movement in Lower Canada was much more anti-
British in sentiment than its counterpart in Upper Canada, The
reformist Canadiens found support from Irish Catholics who had
come to Quebec in the Great Migration. Both the Irish and the
Canadiens felt oppressed by their Protestant, British rulers.
Papineau was joined on Patriote speakers’ platforms by men like
Edmund (’'Callaghan, who wrote in his newspaper, The Vindica-
tor, on April 14, 1837: “The British government have decided to
make Lower Canada the Ireland of North America. One duty now
remains—-let them study the history of the American Revolution.”

1. What was the name given to the oligarchy in Lower Canadal
How did their views of how Lower Canada should be gov-
erned differ from those of the Canadiens!?

2. What reforms were Papineau and his Patriotes seeking!

3. Why were many Irish immigrants to Lower Canada willing to
support the Patriotes!?



The Struggle for Reform in the Canadas, 1815-1840

The Rebellions

Within seven months of O’Callaghan’s warnings, armed conflict
broke out in Lower Canada between Patriotes and British troops. A
month after that, open rebellion occurred in Upper Canada.
Although these rebellions were guickly put down, uprisings
occurred again in 1838. In this section, you will look at the 1837
rebellions in each of the Canadas, as well as those of 1838.

Lower Canada: 1837

In reaction to Lord Russell’s rejection of the Patriotes’ appeal for
responsible government, a public meeting held at St. Charles.on the
Richelieu in May of 1837 voted to resist British “oppression.”
Delegates to the meeting adopted resolutions calling for a boycott
of British goods and banks. Other resolutions hinted at the possibil-
ity of annexation with the United States or the creation of an
independent Canadien nation. Papineau was proclaimed the leader
of Canadien resistance tc the British,

In the Assembly, the Patriote majority continued to refuse to
approve taxes needed by the government. The British governor of
the colony responded by announcing that he would use money in
the colonial treasury without the approval of the elected Assembly.
The Patriotes reacted angrily to this violation of the Constitutional
Act 0of 1791.

Papineau’s son and other young Patriotes formed a group holding
strongly republican views, calling themselves Fils de la Liberté. The
name means “sons of liberty,” after the name of one of the groups
that had started the American Revolution. During the summer and
fall of 1837, street clashes between the Fils de la Liberté and the
Tory Doric Club were common.

In October of 1837, the Patriotes held a mass meeting at St.
Charles to plan their resistance to British rule. The mood was one of
intense Canadien nationalism combined with a passionate salute to
the spirit of the American Revolution.

Speaker after speaker in the angry mood of the meeting called for
armed rebellion against the British. Only Papineau argued for mod-
eration. He called on his followers to use the existing political
system to achieve the changes they demanded. But his was the lone
voice of moderation in the meeting hall, lost among the echoing
cails for armed revolt. Wolfred Nelson rebuked Papinean, saying

[Z



Our Land: Building the West

This flag was carried by patriots
during the battle of St. Eustache.
The muskellunge was a local
symbol, butthe J=BY forJean
Baptiste and the branch of a
maple tree were symbols of
Canadien nationalism, Suggest a
reason why these symbols might
have been chosen.

“the time has come to melt down our tin plates and spoons to make
bullets.” Patriote newspapers jubilantly reported the St. Charles
meeting, spreading the call for armed rebellion. But the rebels never
even had time to properly plan and organize a rebellion, Iet alone
launch it. The Catholic Church publicly denounced the Patriotes
and called on the Canadiens to remain loyal to the British Crown.

The Doric Club responded with more vielent attacks on the
Patriotes. On November 6, 1837, members of the Doric Club
attacked the Fils de la Liberté as they left one of their meetings.
They then ransacked the offices of the Irish pro-Patriote newspaper,
the Vindicator and wound up the evening by attacking Papineau’s
home. ;

The British governor, fearing an armed uprising was about to
begin, proclaimed martial law. All political meetings and marches
were banned. Ten days after the Doric Club attacks, warrants were
issued for the arrest of Papineau and the other Patriote leaders on
charges of treason.

British troops were sent to arrest the would-be revolutionaries.
The British soldiers were trained professionals, well-armed and
well-supplied. The Patriotes, on the other hand, were armed with
hunting muskets, pitchforks and scythes. Only one in ten had a gun.
IM-equipped and poorly trained, they were also badly led. The



The Struggle for Reform in the Canadas, 1815-1840

orators who inspired them to rebellion were lawyers and writers, |77

not scldiers.

The Patriotes resisted what they viewed as the illegal aryest of

their leaders by the British. Pursued by the British troops, the
Patriotes had one brief moment of success on November 23,1837
Barricaded in a stone house in the village of St. Denis, Patriotes led

by Wolfred Nelson fought 350 British soldiers to a stand-off. | i

Among the Patrictes at St. Denis was Georges Etienne Cartier, later
to be one of the Fathers of Confederation.

The rebels were unable to hold out against the British soldiers. # 4

They soon 1an short of supplies. They also faced the opposition of

the Catholic Church which would not allow them to bury their dead i

in church cemeteries. The villages of St. Eustache, St. Benoit and St.
Charles where rebel leaders and their supporters had sought refuge

quickly fell to the British. The Patriotes at St. Denis held out until |
December 1, 1837, then surrendered to a British force that outnum- |-
bered them two to ome. Patriote resistance crumbled, and their |

leaders fled. Many, among them Papineau, escaped to the United
States, '

Events following the rout of the Patriotes served to widen the gap
between the Canadiens and the British in Lower Canada. At St
Eustache, the British found the body of one of their soldiers muti-

lated by the rebels. In revenge, many homes in the village were |

sacked and burned by British troops and civilians, members of the
Doric Club and Orangemen, whe had accompanied them in the
pursuit of the Patriotes. Drunken and filled with pride over their
easy victories, the Doric Club members and Orangemen drove
families out into the snow while the British commanders looked the
other way.

Papineau’s flight had begun before the first shot was fired. He had
never approved of armed rebellion, even when it was forced upan
him. Papineau watched from the distance as St. Eustache and St
Denis burned. He lived for many years under a false name in the
United States,

1. What events triggered the rebellions of 1837 in Lower Can-
ada?

2. In a short paragraph, explain who was to blame for the vio-
lence during the rebellions in Lower Canada.

3. How might Canada’s history have been different if the
Patriotes had won in 18372
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The rebellion in Lower Canada
took place in the last months of
1837. How might the environ-
ment have affected the outcome
of the rebellion!




Our Land: Building the West

- Upper Canada: 1837

News of unrest in Lower Canada reached Upper Canada in Octaber
of 1837. In that month, troops stationed in Toronto were sent to
Lower Canada to deal with the anticipated rebellion there. William
Lyon Mackenzie saw the events in Lower Canada during the fall of
1837 as his chance to launch an armed uprising in Upper Canada. As
an ardent admirer of the American Revolution and the republic it
had created, Mackenzie felt that a similar revolution was needed in

"Upper Canada. He shared many of the views of the Patriotes in

Lower Canada and communicated frequently with their leaders. In
the late summer of 1837, he received a message from the Patriotes,
asking him for his support should an uprising start in Lower Canada
that year.

Mackenzie saw his chance to seize control of Upper Canada when
the British troops stationed at York were sent to Lower Canada in
order to suppress the Patriotes. The rebels had been planning for
several months. During the summer of 1837, political meetings

A CALl FOR SUPPORT

Mackenzie pubhshed lhe folic;wmg handblli on
November 27, 1837 in an effort to attract sup-
port for an armed uprising in Upper Canada:

BRAVE CANADIANS! God has put into the
bold and honest hearts of our brethern in
Lower Canada to revolt-not against “lawful”
but against “unfawful authority”. The faw says
we shall not be taxed without our consent by
. the voices of the men of our choice, but a

% wicked and tyrannical government has tram-
" pled upon that law-robbed the exchequer-

‘divided the plunder—and deciared that,
" regardless of justice they will continue to roli

~ their splendid carriages, and riot in their
palaces, at our expense~that we are poor spir-
~ itless, ignorant peasam‘s, who were born to toil
' =fer our betters. .

' €TANAE} FANSE Do you iove freedom? | kncw

you do. Da you. hate oppress;on? Who dare
deny it? Do you wish, ... Then buckle on your
armour, and put down the villains who oppress
and enslave our.country. . . .One short hour
will deliver our country 1 from the oppressor;
and freedom in religion, peace and tranquility,
equal faws and an: lmproved country will be
the prize..

..the prlze isa spiendid onie. A country
targer than France or England; natural
resources equal to our most boundless
wishes-a government of equal laws-religion
sure and undefiled-perpetual peace-educa-

tion to all-millions of acres of lands for reve-

nue-freedom from British tribute—free trade

- with all the world-but stop-1 could never enu-
" merate all the blessings attendant on indepen-
- dencel

- rifles, and make short work of ..

Up then, brave Canadiansi Get ready your
OUr enemies

in Toronto are in terror and dismay.

L



were held in many Upper Canadian towns and villages. Rebel
militia units were raised. They drilled and held target practice
throughout the fall of that year.

Mackenzie came up with a plan of action in November, 1837. His
plan for taking over the government of Upper Canada called for a
two-pronged attack. One group of rebels would march on Toronto,
the other on Hamilton. In Toronto, they would seize 4000 guns
from the city hall, arrest Governor Bond Head, and declare their
independence from Britain. A convention would then be held to
create a republican form of government for Upper Canada.

However, confusion surrounded the start of the ill-fated rebel-
lion. December 7,1837, had been chosen as the day for the attack to
begin. The first rebels arrived at Montgomery’s Tavern on Yonge
Street, just outside Toronto, on December 4. There, the rebels
fought their first skirmish with forces loyal to the government.
Colonel Robert Moodie was shot dead as he tried to ride away from
Montgomery's Tavern to warn the governor.

When Mackenzie and his rebels began to march down Yonge
Street the next day, the element of surprise had been lost. The
government had been able to organize a group of armed men led by
Colonel Allan Napier McNab to defend the capital of Upper Can-
ada. The British troops were on their way back from Lower Canada.
Above all, there was little popular support for the marchers. Fewer
than 800 would-be rebels could be assembled for the attack. The
march into the city quickly turned into a wild retreat as the rebels
were ambushed by Sheriff William Jarvis and a party of fewer than
thirty men.

Mackenzie’s bold plan ended in humiliating defeat at the Battle of
Montgomery’s Farm. Colonel McNab and his Lovalist forces chased
the rebels across the ploughed fields as they fled. In his flight,
Mackenzie dropped a bricfcase containing all of his plans for rebel-
lion and the names of those who had taken part in the aborted
uprising,

Mackenzie himself escaped, fleeing to the United States. From
Rochester, New York, Mackenzie and a party of rebel exiles took
over Navy Island in the middle of the Niagara River on December
13, 1837. There, he declared his Provisional Government of Upper
Canada. He continued to find little support in either Canada or the
United States. A group of Loyalist militia, acting on McNak's
orders, burned and sank the Caroline, an American vessel being
used to supply Mackenzie’s rebels on Navy Island, The sinking of
the Caroline in American waters almost started 2 war between

LACK OF POPULARSUPPORT
FORMACKENZE
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Mackenziehad been unableto
get widespread supportfor his
rebellion; despitethe settlers’ =
many grievances. An Upper Cana-
dian farmer who had supported
Mackenzie's demandsfor -
reforis, explained his refusalto.
join the ifi-fated rebellion, saving
“Fwas a Scotch Radicaland

“would have helped Mackenzie all.
Leould-until he drew the sword. .
‘That proved to me that he was -

not constitutional, and | wouldna

any such doings.” - "0
1..In your own words, explain
.- what the farmer meant by the

. ‘phrase “he was not constiti-

* tional.”
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Britain and the United States. Some Americans, sympathetic to the
rebels, called for an invasion of Canada. '

However, the American government did not want a war. In the
end, they arrested Mackenzie for breaking American neutrality
laws and jailed him for a short time, an experience that dulled his
enthusiasm for American institutions.

- _SE}SANNA MOGW&E ' The hfmest backwogdsmen perfect

T Mews of the r b&ﬂfon spread swaft!y, i na‘ﬁ o
. accurately, to erfaris of Upper Ean— N
" ada, Susanna Moodie wrote the following
o descnpﬁon Of how she and her famiiy ieamecﬁ :
ofthe upnsang ' .

__(}n the 4th of Decembe hat. g’rea’t :d'ai/ Of
utbrezk. . .we were met by ol djenny
" who had a long story to tell us, of whichwe .~ ©
.- "could make neither head nor tail-how some .
_,gentieman had called in ourabsence, and
 leftalarge paper, all about the Queen, and,
“the Yankees; that there was war between
Canada and the States; that Toronto had
been burnt and the governor killed, and |
know not what other strange and monstrous
statements '
[Reachmg our- cabin} we found the eluci-
dation of Jenny's marvellous tales: a copy of
the Queen's ;}rociaman{m calling upon all
loyal gentlemen to join in puttmg dawn the
unnatural rebellion. .

[Thenext day, after her husbaﬂd had left
for Toronto] several poor settlers called at
the house. . .on thelr way to Peterborough;
but they brought with them the most exag-
gerated accounts. There had been a battle,
they said, with the rebels, and the loyalists
had been defeated; Toronto was besieged by
sixty thousand men, and all the men inthe
backwoods were ordered to march instantly
to the relief of the city. . ..

Susanna Moodies book Roughing It in the
Bush has become an important source of
information on life'in Upper Canada.
What kinds of information do vou think
historigns Wc;uid find in early settlery’
accounts of life inthe Canadasi How reli-
able do von think these acconnts wonld
be!
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1. What were Mackenzie’s reasons for calling for rebellion in
Upper Canada?

2. Give reasons why Mackenzie found little support in Upper
Canada for his rebellion.

The Rebellions of 1838

The rebellions of 1837 in both Lower and Upper Canada were
quickly suppressed by the British. Both had failed because they had
been unable to attract widespread popular support. The rebellions
of 1837 showed that the vast majority in both provinces, despite
widespread grievances, were content to use peaceful, constitutional
means to achieve political ends.

However, events in 1838 showed that these grievances continued.
More battles were fought, and more blood shed, after the rebellions
of 1837 than during them. Throughout 1838, a secret guerilla army
carried out a series of attacks along the boundary between Upper
and Lower Canada. This secret group was known as the Patriot
Hunters and was based in the United States. Its members struck at
prominent Tory targets, burning houses and barns, and sometimes
murdering their inhabitants.

The Patriot Hunters had as their symbol an eagle flanked by stars.
On their membership card was the image of the eagle, clutching the
British lion in its talons. Their aim was to invade and capture
Canada in oxder to liberate it from what they saw as British tyranny.
The few forays the group made into Upper Canada were crushed by
British troops and the militia. Ineffectual as they were, these raids
in 1838 renewed fears of another American invasion of Canada.

In Lower Canada, armed uprisings also broke out in 1838. There,
a parallel group known as les Freres Chasseurs, had been preparing
for armed rebellion since the defeat of the Patriotes in 1837, Led by
Robert Nelson, a doctor living in Montreal, les Freres Chasseurs
were better financed and organized than the Patriotes had been in
1837. Nelson's organization had cells of supporters throughout
Lower Canada. They also had a more capable military leadership
which recognized the need for the insurgents to be well-armed if the
rebellion was to succeed.

Les Freres Chasseurs organized a brief and ineffectual uprising in
February of 1838. However, a second campaign was attempted in
November. This uprising began with the seizure of the strategic
seigneury of Beauharnois, thirty kilometres from Montreal. But, a
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party of Loyalist Caughnawaga natives attacked the rebels and
captured them, holding them until British troops arrived.

Meanwhile, Robert Nelson, leader of les Freres Chasseurs, was
on his way back from the United States with money and arms for
the rebels. Loyalist patrols, alerted by the events at Caughnawaga,
spotted Nelson and captured the rebel leader. Once again, the
rebels, short of arms and ammunition, were doomed to defeat.
Again, too, the army and Loyalist volunteers scoured the country-
side in search of rebels.

The British revenge on the failed revolutionaries was far more
violent than the uprisings themselves. Two of the Upper Canadian
rebels, Peter Matthews and Samuel Lount, were hanged in April
1838. Ironically, Lount, who was Mackenzie’s lieutenant, had saved
the lives of Sheriff William Jarvis’ family during the 1837 uprising
by keeping his fellow marchers from setting fire to the Jarvis home.

In Lower Canada, martial law was declared and the elected
Assembly suspended following the rebellion in 1837. A new gover-
nor general, Lord Durham, was sent to the colony to restore order
and to solve “the Canadian problem.” Durham feared furtherarmed
insurrection if he bowed to local Tory demands for harsh punish-
ments for the rebels. Instead of ordering eight rebel leaders hanged,
as the British demanded, he had them exiled to the West Indies. The
British government overturned his lenient sentences and Durham
angrily resigned his post. He returned to Britain where he wrote a
report on the rebellions of 1837 that would become a turning point
in Canadian history. You will learn more about Lord Durham’s
report in the next chapter. The British reacted much more harshly to
the rebellion 0f 1838 in Lower Canada. This time there was no Lord
Durham to send the rebel leaders into West Indian exile. Martial law
was still in effect from the earlier rebellion: 1200 men were rounded
up by the army and jailed as suspected rebels. Of their number, 108
were brought before court martial for trial and all but ten were
sentenced to death. Twelve Freres Chasseurs were actually hanged
before the British realized that executions might lead to another
uprising. Fifty-eight of the condemned men were transported to the
Australian penal colony and the rest set free. Robert Nelson, the
rebel leader, managed to escape to the United States. He abandoned
his hope of hecoming “president cf the new republic” and returned
to his medical practice. '

In Upper Canada, 885 men were arrested for treason in 1838 and
jailed. Of these, twenty were hanged publicly. The Tories hoped the
hangings would deter any would-be rebels. Ninety-two were trans-

/9
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ported to penal colonies. Other supporters of Mackenzie fled to the
United States to avoid similar fates.

1. What evidence in the text shows the Patriot Hunters were

- influenced by American revolutionary ideas?

L. Suggest reasons why the British government so severely pun-
ished the rebels following the 1838 rebellion. What did the
government hope to gain? ' :

Summary

The Industrial Revolution in early nineteenth-century Britain cre-
ated movements of political reform that would have repercussions
in the North American colonies. Thousands of immigrants from
England, Scotland and Ireland; many of them displaced by the
Industrial Revolution, arrived as part of the Great Migration. These
immigrants brought with them new social and political ideas that
greatly affected life in the Canadas.

Oligarchies held power in each of the British North American
colonies. In Upper Canada, the Family Compact used its power in.
the Executive and Legislative Councils to prevent reforms that
would have aided pioneer farmers. The major issues that caused
discontent among the farmers were the idle Crown lands and the
role of the Anglican Church. With its vast Clergy Reserves, the
Anglican Church was able to block religious freedoms and public
schooling,

In Lower Canada, the Chateau Clique attempted to use its power
in government to build canals linking the colony to markets in
Upper Canada. The Canadien reformers, known as Patriotes, used
their power in the Assembly to block these efforts. They feared that
the British merchant classes wanted to destroy the traditional Cana-
dien way of life,

At first, reformers in both colonies sought changes through the
elected assemblics and appeals to the British Parliament, They
appealed for responsible gdvernment in the colonies, knowing that
this would give the elected representatives of the people control
over the government. However, the oligarchies, supported by the
British, blocked the reformers’ efforts.

In frustration, same of the reformers in both colonies turned to
armed rebellion. Some of them called for an end to colonies’ ties
with Britain and the creation of independent republics. Rebellions

occurred in both Canadas in late fall of 1837. The rebellions were
poorly organized, badly led and lacked popular support. Both were
quickly put down by British troops and civilians loyal to the govern-
ment. However, unrest and clashes between government troops and
rebels continued throughout 1838 as well.

)
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Lord Durham in the Colonies

John “Radical Jack” Lambton, the first Earl of Durham, is known to
students of Canadian history as Lord Durham. He was a powerful
advocate of political reforms in Britain during the 1830s. For exam-
ple, he urged that voting should be done by secret ballot and that the
vote be given to all male taxpayers.

Led by speakers like Durham, critics of the British government
accused it of neglecting its North American colonies. They claimed
that this neglect had given rise both to the American Revolution of
the 1770s and to the rebellions of 1837-1838 in the Canadas. They

argued that the British government had neither provided good
leadership nor allowed enough democracy for the colonies, thus
enabling groups like the Family Compact and the Chateau Cligue to
become petty tyrants.

Early in 1838, British Prime Minister Melbourne asked Durham
to head a commission of inguiry into the rebeilions of 1B37-1838,
and tc make recommendations for the future of the Canadas.
Durham was also asked to serve as governor general of both Upper
and Lower Canada. Durham’s acceptance delighted Melbourne and
quieted the critics who were using the “Canadian problem” 1o
harass and embarrass the Melbourne government. On both sides of
the Atlantic, people who wanted to see political change in the
colonies were pleased by Durham’s appointment.

Lerd Durham arrived at the port of Quebec City in May 1838 t0 a
warm weicome from the people of Lower Canada. He invited
leaders from both Canadas and the Atlantic colonies to meet with
him and discuss solutions to the problems of colonial government.

Drurharn already had in mind one possible solution: the joining of
all the colonies into a single legislative union. In other words,
Durham wanted to create an elected Assembly which would include
representatives from each of the colonies. These legislators would
make laws that applied to all of the colonies. Such an assembly
would make it impossible for 2 local oligarchy to control the politi-
cal life of any individual colony. There would be encugh taxpayers
in this union to provide the government with the funds needed for
such large-scale projects as railway and canal building. Such pro-
jects, at this time, were bigger than any individual colony could
handle.

Drurham discovered, howevey, that none of the colonies wanted
to be part of his proposed legislative union. Fach colony feared
getting involved with the problems of the others if it had to share a
government with them. Durham abandoned the idea of a legisiative
union of ali the colonies. A union of Lower and Upper Canada
without the Maritimes, however, would remain part of his pro-
posed solution.

During Durham’s visit to Upper Canada, William and Robert
Baldwin, leading reformers in the Upper Canada colony, suggested
to him the idea of "responsible government” for British North
CAmerica. This idea was already in practice in Britain itself, Let us
take a closer look at what it meant.

in Britain, those people allowed to vote elected the members of
the House of Commons. The party getting the largest number of

2.1

Lord Durham was an aristocrat,
the son-in-law of a former Brit-

ish prime minister. His vears in
politics had earned him a repu-
tgtion as a reformes,
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Fobert Baldwin

members in Parliament would then form a government, headed by
the prime minister {usually the leader of the winning party). The
prime minister would choose members of his party to be part of his

~ Executive Council, or cabinet. This council gave advice to the

monarch and was responsible for the day-to-day runming of the
country. Each cabinet minister headed a department, staffed by civil
servants, who carried out the work of the government.

“The Baldwins wanted to see a similar system for the government
of the colonies. The colonial governor, appointed by the British
government, would still act as the chief representative of authority
[or head of state) in the colonies, However, this appeinted governor
would have to choose his Executive Council from the elected
members of the Legislative Assembly of the colony. {"Legislative
Assembly” was the name used for the body of representatives
elected by colonial voters.|

This Executive Council would then give advice to the colonial
governor. The governor would have to accept such advice in all
domestic matters, those matters which concerned life in the colony
itself. For example, if the Executive Council’s members wanted to
spend tax money to build roads, and had the support of amajority of
members in the Assembly, the colonial governor would have to
allow this spending, whether he liked the idea or not. if the
Baldwins' proposal was accepted, the real power in the colony
would no longer rest with the appointed governor, but with the
elected Legislative Assembly, whose members sat in the Executive
Council.

In such a system, the government is said to be “yesponsible” to the
clected Assembly, who in turn represent the people of the colony.
The structure of responsible government is shown on page 55.

In a letter of August 1838 to Lord Durham, Robert Baldwin
summed up his case for responsible government:

T would ask Your Lordskip, would the people of England endure
any system of Executive Government over which they had less
influence than that which at present exists [in the Canadas]! Your
Lordship knows they would not. Can you then expect the people
of these colonies with their English feelings and English sympa-
thies to be satisfied with less. .. They can see a reason why their
relations with foreign countries should be placed in other hands:
but none why their domestic concerns should not be managed
upon similar principles to those applied in the administration of
the Imperial Government. . ..
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Baldwin’s Proposal for
Responsibie Government

|

N dvises
Executive ? e a

Branch

advises appoints

Executive Council
(drawn from majority party)

sLegislative,
“Branch.

The Baldwins’ proposal appealed to Durham for a number of
reasons. First, it called for a form of government similar to Britain’s,
with which he was of course already familiar. Second, the proposal
would provide responsible government for local issues. This provi-
sion would silence complaints that these issues were under the
control of a government outside the colony. But it would still allow
the British government to retain power in all other matters such as
foreign trade and defence. Finally, the proposal was acceptable to
important political leaders in all six of the colonies. For these
reasons, Durham was prepared to recommend to the British Parlia-
ment that responsible government be extended to all of the British
North American colonies except one: Lower Canada. Here, Dur-
ham faced a major problem. He feared that, under responsible
government, the French-speaking majority of Lower Canada would
use its power to block the wishes of the British minority. As you will
shortly see, Durham had a very unfavorable opinion of the Cana-
diens and their way of life. Despite these views he treated the
Patriote rebels leniently following their convictions (see Chapter 2,
page 48). His leniency towards the rebels arcused great anger both
in the British Colonial Office and among the English-speaking
population of Lower Canada. As a result of this criticism of his

actions, five months after his arrival in the colonies, Durham
resigned from the position of governor general and returned to
Britain. There, he wrote the report that would shape future British
policies regarding its North American colonies. You will now get a
closer look at that report.

T
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Lord Durham’s Report

The following are excerpts from the report prepared by Lord Dur-
ham and his staff for the British government. In the report, he deals
with four main topics. They are: the causes of conflict in Lower
Canada; the causes of conflict in Upper Canads; the proposal for
responsible government; and the proposal to unite the two Canadas
into a single colony. Here is what Durham had to say about each of
these topzcs

On the Causes of Conflict in Lower Canada:

Durham felt strongly that the conflict in Lower Canada was a result

of the differences of outlook between the Canadien majority and

the British minority. He believed that the British commerical and

industrial economy, as represented by this minority, was superior to

the older agricultural economy of the Canadiens. He felt that the

British way of life had to take control in Lower Canada if economic
. progress was to be achieved there.

I expected to find a contest between a government and a people: |
found two nations warring in the bosom of a single state: I found
a struggle, not of principles, but of races [ethnic groups];.. .{a]
deadly animosity. . .now separates the inhabitants of Lower Can-
ada into the hostile divisions of French and English.

[The English in Lower Canada] complain loudly and bitterly of
the whole course pursued by the Imperial government, with
respect to the quarrel of the two races...they feel that being a
minority, any return to the due course of constitutional govern-

ment would again subject them to a French majority; and to this I
am persuaded they would never peaceably submit. . .

It will be acknowledged by everyone who has observed the
progress of Anglo-Saxon [British] colonization in America, that
sooner or later the English race was sure to predominate even
numetically in Lower Canada. ..

I entertain no doubts as to the national character which must be
given to Lower Canada; it must be that of the British Empire;. . .it
must henceforth be the first and steady purpose of the British
government to establish an English population, with English laws
and language, in this province and to trust to none but a decidedly
English legislature. ...



On Union of the Canadas

Durham believed that union of the two Canadas would help to solve
the political, economic and cultural problems of both colonies. In
particular, he saw union as the only way to assimilate the Canadiens
into a dominant British culture: :

....I believe that tranquility can only be restored by subjecting
the province [Lower Canadal to the vigorous rule of an English
majority; and that the only [effective] government would be that
formed by a legislative union.

If the population of Upper Canada is rightly estimated at
400 000, the English inhabitants of Lower Canada at 150 000 and
the French at 450 000, the union of the two provinces would not
only give a clear English majority, but one that would be increased
every year by the influence of English emigration; and I have little
doubt that the French, when once placed by the legitimate course
of events and the working of natural causes, in a minority, would
abandon their vain hopes of nationality, . ..

On Responsible Government

Durham observed that many colonists envied the economic pros-
perity and democratic system of government enjoyed in the United
States. He noted that some colonia] leaders even wanted the colo-

nies to become part of the United States. If the British government
failed to grant responsible government to the colonies, Durham
argued, their annexation by the United States would be a strong -
possibility.

The irritation caused by the late insurrection. . .induced a large
portion of the population to look with envy at the material
prosperity of their neighbours in the United States, under a
perfectly free and eminently responsible government; and, in
despair of obtaining such benefits under their present institu-
tions, to desire the adoption of a republican constitution, or even
an-incorporation with the American Union. .. The different par-
ties believe that when the case is once fairly put before the mother
country, the desited changes in the policy of their government
will be readily granted: they are now tranguil, and I believe loyal,
determined to abide the decision of the Home Government, and
to defend their property and their country against rebellion and
invasion. But I cannot but express my belief that this is the last
effort of their almost exhausted patience. .. .and. . .that the gov-
ernment of the colony should henceforth be carried on in con-
formity with the views of the majority in the Assembly.

Some people in the Canadas saw
annexation with the United
States as a solution to economic
problems. In 1849, 325 Montreal
citizens published the Annex-
ation Manifesto calling for
immediate union with the
United States. Do you think the
cartoonist supported this viewt
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Reactions to Lord Durham’s Report

The immediate reaction to Lord Durham’s report was mixed. Tories
in Britain and their counterparis in the colonies saw the report as an
attack on their privileges and power. Most Canadien leaders were
turious over Durham’s views of their culture and over his desire to
submerse them in a union with Upper Canada.

" In general, reform-minded people on both sides of the Atlantic
applauded Durham's recomumendations. Reformers in all the colo-
nies favorably received his idea for responsible government. The
headline of The Hamilton Journal of August 2, 1839, read: “Death
to the Family Compact and up with the Durham Constitution!”
“No document has ever been promulgated in British North America
that has given such general satisfaction as this report,” wrote
Francis Hincks in his newspaper, the Toronto Examiner, on June
24, 1839. Hincks then set about organizing hundreds of “Durham
meetings” and “Durham Constitutional Clubs” throughout Upper

Canada. At these meetings, flags were waved and songs sung in
support of the reformers’ cause.

Durham's report was just as enthusiastically received in the
Atlantic colonies. On April 11, 1839, Joseph Howe, a wvocal
reformer, wrote the following editorial in his newspaper, the Nova
Scotian:

HEEE
threa‘tened by the Bntlsh Many of the i_ower
Canadian rébels 6f 18371838 had held these
beliefs. When Durham’s report appeared,
these Canadiens became’ evenmore resentful
of the British.

Other Canadiens feft d;fferenﬂy In his Que-
bec City newspaper Le Canadien, Etienne Par-
ent had not only translated and published Dur-
ham's report; but had written a carefully
argued analysis of it. He urged that Canadiens
focus on the recommendation for responsible
government, rather than on Durham's anti-
French sentiments. Parent believed that
reformers in the two Canadas could use
responsible government both to protect the
rights of French Canadians and bring about
educational, religious and agricultural changes
to Lower Carnada. He believed that the Cana- ‘
diens had to take advantage of industrializa- they would influence reformers like Louis-Hip-

Etienne Parent

- tion and commerce in order to strengthen their polyte LaFontaine {see page 63] and playa
* culture. His arguments were opposed by the major role in the achievement of responsibte
Catholic Church and the traditionalists, but government in Canada.



Changes in Colenial Government, 1838-1849

The remedy for the local executives [Executive Councils]. . .in all
the Colonies, has two prime recommendations, being perfectly
simple and eminently British. Itis to let the majority and not the
minority govern, and compel every Governor to select his advi-
sors from those who enjoy the confidence of the people, and can
command a majority in the popular [elected legislative] branch,

The Family Compact in Upper Canada reacted negativeiy to
Durham’s report. They feared the results if both union of the
Canadas and responsible government were adopted. R.B. Sullivan, a
member of the Family Compact, summed up this negative reaction
in1839:

It is said. . .the Union. ..would give a decided [advantage| to the
British party in the Legislature.

The proposition for a union of the provinces is. . .founded on a
fallacy-a supposed [agreement| of purpose among the whole
British population. But the fact is otherwise. The population of
Upper Canada is divided into political parties. . . . American polit-
ical agitation has infected many of them with republicanism, and
with notions of politics inconsistent with colonial dependence. . .
If then this democratic party were to have even partial success in
the Upper Canada elections there would be two contending par-
ties amongst the British representation in the United Legislature.

The French Canadians have shown that they are united as a
party... .they will unquestionably unite themselves with the one
of the British parties which will undertake the most for them. The
democratic party being the weakest in the British representation
will unqucstmnably undertake anythmg for the sake of gaining
French support. .



Lord Sydenham was considered
one of the ablest administrators
sernt from Britain to North
America. He was experienced
both as a politician and as a
businessperson. He arrived in
Lower Canada in Qctober 1839
and died in September 1841 as a
result of a fall from a horse.

A Solution Tried

From Lord Durham’s Report to the Act of
Union

The British government of 1839 was not yet ready to grant responsi-
ble government to its North American colonies. The colonial secre-
tary, Lord Russell, believed strongly in the principle that a col-
ony was different from a nation. Responsible government was
unacceptable to him. With responsible government, the British-
appointed governor of a colony would have to follow the advice of
an Assembly elected by the colonists. This advice might differ from
the advice the British government wished the governor to follow.
Russell felt that, in all colonial matters, the wishes of the British
government were more important than the desires of the colonists.

As a result of Russells strong views, the British government
rejected Durham's recommendation calling for responsible govern-
ment. But, it did accept the recommendation calling for union of the
two Canadas. A single colony, or province, would be created from
Upper and Lower Canada. Upper Canada would be known as
Canada West and Lower Canada as Canada East. The new province
would assume the debts of each colony as a single debt. There would
be one elected Legislative Assembly in which each of the Canadas
would have equal representation. This measure was adopted
because representation by population would have created a Cana-
dien majority in the Assembly.

Charles Poulett Thompson, soon to be known as Baron Syden-
ham, arrived in the Canadas as their new governor general. He was
charged with the responsibility of gaining approval for the proposed
union from both Upper and Lower Canada.

When Sydenham travelled to Lower Canada, the proposed Act of
Union was enthusiastically received there by the British minority,
For them, the union would serve to put the rebellicus Canadiens in
their place. It would also encourage English commerce and industry
at the expense of the traditional Canadien way of life based on
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farming and the fur trade. The Gazette, a Montreal English newspa-
per, editorialized that literacy in English, not property, should be
the requirement of anyone secking the right to vote in the united
colony.

Faced with such anti-French bigotry, Canadien moderates who
had supported Lord Durham’s recommendations for responsible
government actively opposed the Act of Union. The Catholic
Church joined in this opposition. .

These concerns were ignored by Sydenham, who then travelled to
Toronto to seek the endorsement of the Upper Canadians for the
proposed union. Despite the strong objections of the Family Com-

- pact, the Tory-dominated Assembly gave the idea overwhelming
approval. It had been persuaded to do so by Sydenham’s promise of a

British loan that would cover the combined debts of the two colo--

nies. Reformers in the Upper Canadian Assembly also supported
the proposal. As Sullivan bad anticipated, they foresaw the possibil-
ity of an alliance with reform-minded Canadien legislators to bring
about responsible government. The legislators of Upper Canada did
insist on two changes to the proposed Act. First, the capital of the
United Province was to be located at Kingston, halfway between
Montreal and Toronto. Second, English was to be the only official
language of the colony.

The Act of Union was approved by the British Parliament in July
1840. Royal proclamation of the Act followed in February 1841.
Apart from creating a single colony, the Act of Union brought little
change to the government of the Canadas. The structure of govern-
ment established under the Constitutional Act of 1791 was main-
tained. There was still a governor appointed by the British govern-
ment, his Executive Council and an elected Assembly. Now,
however, there would be only one such government for both the
Canadas.

No rebellion greeted passage of the Act of Union, despite French-
Canadian opposition to it. Rioting broke out in the Canadas during
the election of 1841, but as mob violence was a common feature of
voting during this period, the riots created few concerns. Instead,
reformers in both Canada West and Canada East set ont to find Ways
of working together toward the achievement of responsible govern-
ment.

1. How did the Act of Union change, and not change, the gov-
ernment of the Canadas!?
2. Why did some Canadien leaders oppose the Act of Unjon!

Louis-Hippolvte LaFontaine
strongly opposed the combining
of the debts of Upper and Lower
Canada into a single debt. Lower
Canada owed almost nothing
while Upper Canada owed about
£1000 000, or over £2 for every
man, woman and child {approxi-
mately one weeks wages for an
average laborer in 1840),
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As these changes were taking place, Metcalfe retired as governor
because of ill health. The Liberal government in Britain named Lord
Elgin as his successor in January 1847, Elgin was Durham’s son-in-
law. Like Durham, Lord Elgin was strongly committed to a more
democratic system of government for the colonies. So, too, was the
new colonial secretary, Lord Grey, Durham’s brother-in-law. Grey
instructed Elgin to introduce responsible government as soon as
possible,

In the 1848 election in the Canadas, the Reformers won a large
majority in the Assembly. Elgin immediately called upon Baldwin
and LaFontaine to form a government and to name the members of
the Executive Council. Like the prime minister in Britain, they
selected these members from their own party in the Assembly. The
Executive Council, with the approval of the Assembly, would shape
government policy. Responsible government appeared to have been
achieved in the Canadas.

The real test of responsible government would come when the
colonial gavernment took an action of which the governor disap-
proved. If the governor overruled the measure, there was no real
responsible government. If he granted the act Royal Assent despite
his objections, responsible government had been truly achieved.

The first such test came in 1849, with the passage of the Rebellion
Losses Bill by the Assembly. This bill provided compensation for
persons who had suffered property damage during the rebellion of
1837-1838. Most of the people were Canadiens who had not taken
part in the rebellions. However, some of the persons to be compen-
sated were rebels whose property had been destroyed by the British.
For this reason, the Tory opposition in the Assembly bitterly
opposed the bill. Elgin himself was known not to favor it. Like the
Tories, he did not think it right that people who had rebelled against
the colonial government a dozen vears earlier should now be com-
pensated by the government, The guestion was whether Elgin
would sign the bill into law. Despite threats against his life, he did
sign it, on the grounds that responsible government required him to
follow the advice of his Executive Council. Responsible govern-
ment had passed its first test.



Our Land' Building the West

" THE MONTREAL RIOTS, 1849

Elgin’s signing of the Rebellion Losses Bill fed to
“a violent protest and riots by Tories in Mon-
treal. The capital of the Canadas had been
moved to Montreal from Kingston in 1844, it
was there that Elgin resided and there that he

signed the controversial bill. Reverend Wifliam

Rufus Seaver, a shopkeeper and Congrega-

tional minister, was an eyvewitness to the riots,
He wrote the following account of them in his
diary: : ' '

Business is terrible duff and nothing is now
- talked about but a republican government.
Joday the Govn [Governior] came to town -
“on horseback. . went home about 3
o'clock. ;.and came again 1o town attended
by his officers and a Guard more than usually
numerous, What is this all about? was at -

once theinquiry. ... 1t was rumoured that the.

Billindemnifying the Rebellion losses was
now to be'sanctioned. .. on the report
 spreading throtgh town (which it did like
‘wildfire) an immense mob assembled and
sourounded [sic] the Parliament house fo
- $ee what'his Excellency: [Elgin] intended to

- saved, and the striicture now is but a heap of:
smoking ruins; _ R

do-when it was finally announced that he
had really given the Royal Sanction 1o the
Bill, then there was troublfe - as his Excellency
left the House for his carriage af the door he
was assaiied with stones, clubs, & rotten &
good eggs by thousands, and he was struck
in the face with an egg, his carriage windows

" broken etc. but by the speed of his horses he

was enabled to escape with no injury except

"7 to his carriage and his equipage—1 stop here
“for the cry is raised that the Parfiment House

s on fire-fire-fire is the cry-and from my
shop doos | see the red flames light up the

. Heavens~I go—more after | see what the row”

.. .about 8 o'clock fin the evening] while

, Parliment was still sitting a mob (it can be
_called nothing else tho’ composed of some

of our most worthy citizens) assembled

_around the House, and commenced the

- destruction of the building, by breaking win-
“dows etc. Soon the doots were broken apen
~and a stout fellow sprang into the speakers

chair with the exclamation, “I dissolve Parli- "

“ment.” This was the Signai~~énd Em'mediateiy“: ‘
‘inthe face of the members, and an immense =

multitude of spectators the Gas Pipeswere©

. fired in a dozen places, and the building

wraped in flames. .. All was lost, nothing




